**RECEIVED**

**02-27-2019**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP2401-CR

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN ORTIZ-RODRIGUEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

On appeal from a judgment of conviction and an  
order denying postconviction relief entered in the  
Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable  
Jeffrey A. Wagner presiding.

---

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF  
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

---

PAMELA MOORSHEAD  
Assistant State Public Defender  
State Bar No. 1017490

Office of the State Public Defender  
735 N. Water Street - Suite 912  
Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116  
(414) 227-4805

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Was Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez entitled to a hearing on his motion for plea withdrawal in which he alleged that he intended to have a trial, but was persuaded to plead guilty based on his attorney's misrepresentation that the State would be recommending 5-8 years of initial confinement, when the State actually recommended 20 years of initial confinement?

Circuit Court Decision: The circuit court ruled that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez's motion for plea withdrawal did not contain a sufficient allegation of prejudice to warrant a hearing.

## **POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

Publication may be warranted, as this case addresses the application of the United States Supreme Court decision in *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985), in which the Court explained that in order to establish prejudice sufficient to require a hearing on a motion for plea withdrawal, the defendant is required to allege that but for counsel's error, "he would not have pleaded guilty but would have insisted on going to trial." *Id.*, at 60. The circuit court applied more stringent requirements than the United States Supreme Court set forth in *Hill* and denied a hearing to Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez when he failed to meet them. This is a recurring problem. As an

example of this, see *State v. Yancey*, 2018AP802-CR (Slip Opinion, Jan. 8, 2019). For this reason, oral argument may be helpful and is requested.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez was charged in a criminal complaint with one count of repeated sexual assault of a child in violation of Wis. Stat. §948.025(1)(b), a Class B felony. (1). Under Wis.Stat. §939.616(1r), he was subject to a minimum of 25 years of initial confinement in the event of a conviction. (1). The charge resulted from the report of his five-year-old daughter, MO, that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez had sexual contact, including sexual intercourse, with her on several occasions and infected her with Gonorrhea. (1). Ultimately, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez entered a plea to an amended charge of first degree sexual assault in violation of Wis. Stat. §948.02(1)(e), a class B felony, with no mandatory minimum. (18).

Near the end of the plea hearing, the prosecutor said “the plea bargain, if I didn’t mention it earlier, is that both sides are free to argue on this amended plea deal.” (41: 6). The plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form filed with the Court indicated “see attachment” for the plea agreement. (7). An attachment contained the following: “At sentencing both sides are free to argue as to what the appropriate sentence should be.” (7).

At sentencing, the State recommended 20 years of initial confinement and 20 years of extended

supervision. (42: 7). Defense counsel recommended an initial confinement of five to seven years. (42: 16). The Court sentenced Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez to 20 years of initial confinement and 10 years of extended supervision. (42: 23).

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and undersigned counsel was appointed to represent him. (20). Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez filed a motion for postconviction relief. (29; App. 105-109).

The postconviction motion alleged that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez would testify at a hearing<sup>1</sup> that he intended to have a trial. The motion indicated that he would testify that he accepted the plea offer because it did not involve a mandatory minimum sentence and because his attorney told him that the recommendation the State would be making would be 5-8 years of initial confinement. (29: 2; App. 106). The motion stated that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez would testify that although he heard the language about both sides being free to argue, he believed based on his attorney's representations that the State was free to argue and would be recommending 5-8 years of initial

---

<sup>1</sup> "Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule or statute, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by affidavit." Wis. Stat. § 802.05(1). Further, by signing the postconviction motion, undersigned counsel certified that: "The allegations and other factual contentions stated in the paper have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery." Wis. Stat. § 802.05(2)(c).

confinement. (29: 2; App. 106). The motion stated that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez would testify that he would not have pled guilty if he had known that the State had not agreed to recommend an initial confinement of 5-8 years, but might recommend any amount of initial confinement up to the maximum of 40 years. If he had known that it was possible that the State would make the 20 year initial confinement recommendation it made, he would have insisted on a trial. (29: 2; App. 106).

The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. The court ruled that even if counsel gave Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez the faulty advice he described, the postconviction motion did not contain a sufficient allegation of prejudice to warrant a hearing. (34: 3-4; App. 103-104).

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez appealed. (35).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez was entitled to a hearing on his motion for plea withdrawal.**

#### **A. Introduction and standard of review.**

In his postconviction motion, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez asserted that his plea was not knowing and voluntary due to evidence outside of the record — specifically, conversations with his trial attorney before the plea hearing. *See, State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). *See, State v.*



*Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906; *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 261-62 (1971). (29: 3; App. 107).

Further, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez alleged that he was entitled to plea withdrawal because his plea resulted from the ineffective assistance of counsel. *See, Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311, 548 N.W.2d 50, (The “manifest injustice” test for plea withdrawal “is met if the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel.”). (29: 3; App. 107).

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez must show that counsel’s performance was both deficient and prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). The two-part test of *Strickland* applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S. Ct. 366, 370 (1985).

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim ordinarily presents a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶21, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. Where, as here, the circuit court has denied the defendant a *Machner*<sup>2</sup> hearing, this court independently reviews whether the postconviction motion was sufficient to warrant a hearing. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

---

<sup>2</sup> *See State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

B. Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his motion for plea withdrawal.

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez alleged in his postconviction motion that his attorney incorrectly informed him that upon a plea of guilty to the amended charge, the State had agreed that at sentencing it would recommend an initial confinement of 5-8 years. (29: 2; App. 106). The motion asserted that when defense counsel misadvised Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez about what the State had agreed to recommend, counsel's performance was deficient. (29: 4; App. 108). *See, State v. Frey*, 2012 WI 99, ¶103, 343 Wis. 2d 358, 393, 817 N.W.2d 436, 453 ("It is the responsibility of defense counsel to assure that the defendant understands and consents to the terms of any plea bargain. . .").

In his motion, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez asserted that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because he would not have entered his guilty plea but for counsel's error. *See Hill*, 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S. Ct. at 370. ("in order to satisfy the "prejudice" requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial"). Specifically, he alleged that he was persuaded to plead guilty because the State had agreed to a charge that did not involve a mandatory minimum sentence and because his attorney misadvised him that the State had agreed to recommend an initial confinement of 5-8 years. He alleged that he would

not have entered his plea but would have insisted on a trial if he had known that the State would be free to recommend the 20-year initial confinement it ultimately recommended. (29: 2; App. 106). This was sufficient under *Hill* to entitle Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez to a hearing on his motion.

In denying the motion without a hearing, the circuit court began by mischaracterizing Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez's motion, claiming that the motion contained only a single sentence alleging prejudice. (34: 3; App. 103). The circuit court then dubbed the allegation a "bare bones allegation," which it found insufficient under *Bentley*. (34: 3; App. 103, citing *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 316).

In *Bentley*, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin found the allegation of prejudice to be "bare-bones" where Bentley claimed that he would not have pled guilty if he had known that his parole eligibility would be in 13 years, 4 months, rather than the 11 years, 5 months he was led to expect. 201 Wis. 2d at 316-317. Where the difference between the reality and the defendant's expectations was so facially insignificant, the court found the lack of explanation of why the difference between parole eligibility dates affected Bentley's plea decision to be dispositive. Without that additional explanation, there were no "factual assertions which would allow a court to meaningfully assess Bentley's claim that he was prejudiced by the misinformation." *Id.*, at 316. Here, in contrast, Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez alleged that he would have taken his chances at trial if he had known the State could recommend as much as 20

years of initial confinement, but he was persuaded to plead guilty by the promise of a 5-8 year recommendation. This is not a facially insignificant difference. No additional factual explication is necessary to explain why a difference of 12-15 years in the prison recommendation would have affected Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez's plea decision.

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez's allegation of prejudice satisfied *Hill. Bentley* cannot be read to set a higher bar than the United States Supreme Court has set in *Hill* for a defendant to clear in order to be entitled to a hearing on his constitutional claim that his plea was not knowing and voluntary.

At bottom, the circuit court denied Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez a hearing on his motion because it did not believe him. The court was simply not convinced upon reading the motion that Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez really would have opted for a trial if he had not secured what he believed was a favorable sentencing recommendation. The court faulted Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez for not alleging "any facts to show why he would have rejected the plea offer, which drastically altered his incarceration exposure, and risked a conviction on a charge of repeated sexual assault of a child and a minimum 25 years of confinement." (34: 4; App. 104). This would have been a valid subject for cross examination of Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez at a hearing to test the credibility of his claim. However, in deciding whether to grant him a hearing, the court was not permitted to evaluate his credibility without the benefit of testimony. The court was required to assume the facts alleged in the motion to be true.

*State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶12, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. “If the facts in the motion are assumed to be true, yet seem to be questionable in their believability, the circuit court must hold a hearing.” *Id.*, n. 6, *citing State v. Leitner*, 2001 WI App 172, ¶ 34, 247 Wis.2d 195, 633 N.W.2d 207 (stating that when credibility is an issue, it is best resolved by live testimony).

### CONCLUSION

Mr. Ortiz-Rodriguez requests that the Court reverse the decision of the circuit court denying his motion for plea withdrawal and remand for a *Machner* hearing.