# RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN **05-31-2019**

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

#### \_\_\_\_\_

Case No. 2018AP2401-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN ORTIZ-RODRIGUEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Ortiz- Rodriguez's postconviction motion without a hearing because he failed to support his motion with specific facts from which the court could assess prejudice
A. Relevant law3
B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion to deny Ortiz-Rodriguez's postconviction motion without a hearing because he made only a conclusory allegation of prejudice, failing to support his assertion with objective facts
CONCLUSION

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985)
State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 3
State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) 6
State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44 4
State v. Hampton, 2004 WI 107, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14 3, 4
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 809.86(4)

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Jonathan Ortiz-Rodriguez's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing.

The circuit court said yes.

This Court should say yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication.

#### INTRODUCTION

Ortiz-Rodriguez accepted the State's offer to plead guilty to first-degree sexual assault of his five-year-old daughter in exchange for dismissing the charge of the repeated sexual assault of a child, which exposed him to a mandatory minimum term of 25 years' initial confinement. After receiving a 30-year term of imprisonment, Ortiz-Rodriguez moved to withdraw his plea, contending that his counsel told him that the State would recommend that he receive 5 to 8 years of initial confinement.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the motion without a hearing. Ortiz-Rodriguez failed to support his allegation with sufficient facts to show that he would not have entered his plea had counsel informed him that the plea agreement did not obligate the State to make a particular sentencing recommendation.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ortiz-Rodriguez's five-year-old daughter, June,<sup>1</sup> was diagnosed with, and treated for, gonorrhea in 2016. (R. 1:2; 42:7–9.) Shortly after that diagnosis, she told police that her "private parts were hurting because her dad did something really bad." (R. 1:1.) June said that Ortiz-Rodriguez had touched her private parts with his hands and had licked her private parts. (R. 1:1.) June told police that Ortiz-Rodriguez had "put his private parts inside her private parts about seven times" and had "told her to be quiet and don't ask mom." (R. 1:1.)

The State charged Ortiz-Rodriguez with repeated sexual assault of a child, but pursuant to a plea agreement, Ortiz-Rodriguez pleaded guilty to first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13. (R. 1; 7; 10; 18; 41:2; 42:2.) At the plea hearing and at sentencing, the State told the court that the parties had agreed that they were both "free to argue" regarding the sentence that Ortiz-Rodriguez should receive. (R. 41:6; 42:2, 7.) The State recommended that the court impose a 20-year term of initial confinement, to be followed by 20 years of extended supervision. (R. 42:7.) Ortiz-Rodriguez asked for the court "to consider initial confinement in the range of five to seven years." (R. 42:16.) The court sentenced Ortiz-Rodriguez to 20 years' initial confinement, to be followed by 10 years' extended supervision. (R. 18; 42:23.)

Ortiz-Rodriguez moved for postconviction relief, arguing that he should be allowed to withdraw his plea because he did not enter it knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. (R. 29.) Specifically, Ortiz-Rodriguez argued that his counsel was ineffective for misinforming him that the

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  To comply with Wis. Stat. § 809.86(4), the State uses a pseudonym in lieu of the victim's name.

State was going to recommend that he receive five to eight years' initial confinement. (R. 29:2–3.)

The court denied the motion without a hearing, concluding that Ortiz-Rodriguez had "not alleged any facts to show why he would have rejected the plea offer, which drastically altered his incarceration exposure, and risked a conviction on a charge of repeated sexual assault of a child and a minimum 25 years of confinement." (R. 34:4.) Ortiz-Rodriguez appeals. (R. 35.)

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Whether a defendant's "motion is sufficient on its face to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing on his ineffective assistance of" counsel claim is a question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334. When a defendant fails to allege sufficient facts to warrant a hearing, the circuit court has the discretion to deny the motion without a hearing. *Id.*  $\P\P$  50, 56–59.

#### ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Ortiz-Rodriguez's postconviction motion without a hearing because he failed to support his motion with specific facts from which the court could assess prejudice.

#### A. Relevant law.

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a manifest injustice will occur unless the court allows the defendant to withdraw the plea. *State v. Hampton*, 2004 WI 107, ¶ 60, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14. "When, for example, the basis for this injustice is an allegation that defendant involuntarily entered a plea because of the ineffective assistance of counsel, his claim raises questions about both deficient performance and prejudice." *Id.* "To establish deficient performance, a defendant must necessarily provide the factual basis for the court to make a legal determination." *Id.* "To show prejudice, a defendant must do more than merely allege that he would have pleaded differently but for the alleged deficient performance." *Id.* "He must support that allegation with 'objective factual assertions."" *Id.* (citation omitted).

"Whether the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 86, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. This Court defers to the circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, but it independently determines whether those facts show that counsel was ineffective. *Id*.

B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion to deny Ortiz-Rodriguez's postconviction motion without a hearing because he made only a conclusory allegation of prejudice, failing to support his assertion with objective facts.<sup>2</sup>

In his postconviction motion, Ortiz-Rodriguez argued that he should be allowed to withdraw his plea because his counsel was ineffective for telling him that the State had agreed to recommend that the court sentence him to five to eight years' initial confinement. (R. 29:4.) Ortiz-Rodriguez said that had he known that the State was "free to argue" for any sentence term—and specifically that it would argue that he should receive 20 years' initial confinement—he would

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In focusing solely on Ortiz-Rodriguez's failure to allege facts supporting the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, the State does not concede that counsel was deficient. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 697 (1984) (stating that a court need not consider the performance prong of the ineffective assistance test before turning to its prejudice component).

have rejected the plea offer and gone to trial on the repeated sexual assault of a child charge, which subjected him to a mandatory minimum term of 25 years' confinement upon conviction. (R. 29:1–2.)

But the trial court rejected Ortiz-Rodriguez's motion, concluding that even if counsel had misinformed his client on the meaning of "free to argue," Ortiz-Rodriguez had "not alleged sufficient facts to demonstrate that he was prejudiced." (R. 34:3.) It said that Ortiz-Rodriguez had not offered any objective facts to explain why he would have rejected the plea offer and risked a conviction for a crime with a substantial mandatory minimum sentence. (R. 34:4.)

On appeal, Ortiz-Rodriguez fails to adequately identify any error on the part of the circuit court. According to him, his allegation that he would have rejected the plea agreement in favor of a trial was sufficient to warrant a hearing under *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).<sup>3</sup> But Ortiz-Rodriguez is incorrect.

In *Hill*, the petitioner moved for habeas relief, challenging the entry of his guilty plea on the basis that counsel had been ineffective for misinforming him of his parole eligibility date. *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 53–55. The district court rejected the claim without a hearing. *Id.* at 53. The Supreme Court affirmed, concluding that the petitioner had not satisfied *Strickland*'s<sup>4</sup> prejudice prong because he failed to allege that but for counsel's error, "he would have pleaded not guilty and insisted on going to trial." *Id.* at 60. The Court said that because the petitioner "alleged no special circumstances that might support the conclusion that he placed particular emphasis on his parole eligibility in deciding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ortiz-Rodriguez's Br. 7–8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

whether or not to plead guilty," his motion was insufficient to warrant a hearing and, therefore, relief. *Id*.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court incorporated the Hill standard in State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). Bentley argued that his attorney had misinformed him of his parole eligibility date and if he had known that he would not be eligible for parole for an additional two years than he erroneously believed, he would not have pleaded guilty. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 315–16. The court held that this assertion was not sufficient to raise the issue of prejudice. Id. at 316. The court held that under Hill, a defendant who asserts that counsel's deficiency led him to plead guilty must allege more than that he would have pleaded differently absent the error. Id. at 315–16. He must present the trial court with facts that support his allegation "that he pled guilty only because of the misinformation." Id. at 316. Otherwise, the motion is "merely a self-serving conclusion." Id.

Contrary to Ortiz-Rodriguez's suggestion that the circuit court incorrectly read *Bentley* to require a higher standard than *Hill*,<sup>5</sup> the circuit court soundly interpreted and applied the *Bentley/Hill* standard. Here, like *Bentley*, Ortiz-Rodriguez's motion set forth only a conclusory assertion that his attorney's alleged deficiency caused him prejudice: he said simply that he would have gone to trial for the repeated sexual assault of his five-year-old daughter had he known that the State was "free to argue" its sentencing recommendation. (R. 29; 33.)

But Ortiz-Rodriguez does not explain why the State's recommendation was so significant to him. He does not explain why he would have risked receiving a 25-year minimum term of confinement had he understood that the State was not obligated to recommend any particular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ortiz-Rodriguez's Br. 8.

Further, he does not address how any sentence. misunderstanding of the State's agreement squared with his assertion at the plea hearing that he knew that the court was not bound by the negotiations or the plea bargain. (R. 41:2–3, 6.) Without such facts, which both Bentley and Hill require, supporting his self-serving assertion that he would not have entered his plea had counsel advised him differently, he was not entitled to a hearing, and the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying his motion without one.

Ortiz-Rodriguez says that he met the *Bentley* standard by showing that the State's recommendation was 12 to 15 years of confinement longer than he had anticipated it would recommend. He contrasts his case with *Bentley*, in which Bentley alleged only a two-year difference in his parole eligibility.<sup>6</sup> According to Ortiz-Rodriguez, the *Bentley* court rejected Bentley's postconviction motion as insufficiently pleaded in part because "the difference between the reality defendant's and the expectations facially was so insignificant."7 But Ortiz-Rodriguez's argument is flawed.

Contrary to Ortiz-Rodriguez's assertion, the *Bentley* court did not call Bentley's two-year difference in the parole eligibility date "facially insignificant."<sup>8</sup> Instead, the court rejected Bentley's argument that his motion presented sufficient evidence of prejudice because Bentley failed to explain how the two-year difference affected his decision to plead guilty.

The same is true here. Ortiz-Rodriguez does not explain why the State's recommendation of a more lenient sentence one he acknowledged was not binding of the court—was so important to him that he would have instead faced trial and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Ortiz-Rodriguez's Br. 7–8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Ortiz-Rodriguez's Br. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Ortiz-Rodriguez's Br. 7.

risked a mandatory minimum 25-year term of confinement. He fails to support his assertion with any facts that explain how it was the alleged misinformation from counsel that led him to plead to the lesser charge. Because he failed to provide any facts in support of his allegation, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Ortiz-Rodriguez's postconviction motion to withdraw his plea. This Court should affirm that decision and the judgment of conviction.

#### CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment of conviction and the postconviction order denying relief.